**Case No. S279137**

**IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

TAMELIN STONE, et al.,

*Plaintiffs and Appellants,*

v.

ALAMEDA HEALTH SYSTEM,

*Defendant and Respondent.*

---

No Fee (Gov. Code, § 6103)

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,

First Appellate District, Division Five

Case No. A164021

---

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

\*RYAN P. MCGINLEY-STEMPEL (SBN 296182)

rmcginleystempel@publiclawgroup.com

ARTHUR A. HARTINGER (SBN 121521)

GEOFFREY SPELLBERG (SBN 121079)

SAM WHEELER (SBN 293341)

M. ABIGAIL WEST (SBN 324456)

RENNE PUBLIC LAW GROUP

350 Sansome Street, Suite 300

San Francisco, California 94104

Telephone:(415) 848-7250

Facsimile: (415) 848-7230

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Are all public entities exempt from the obligations in the Labor Code and wage orders regarding meal and rest breaks, overtime, and payroll records, or only those public entities that satisfy the “hallmarks of sovereignty” standard adopted by the Court of Appeal in this case?

2. Does the exemption from the prompt payment statutes in Labor Code section 220, subdivision (b), for “employees directly employed by any county, incorporated city, or town or other municipal corporation” include all public entities that exercise governmental functions, or only those with a publicly elected board, a geographical boundary, the power to forcefully raise funds or acquire property, and the power to regulate or police?

3. Do the civil penalties available under the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, codified at Labor Code section 2698 et seq., apply to public entities given the lack of any reference to public entities in that statute and rule that public entities are “not liable for ... damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant” (Gov. Code, § 818)?

## INTRODUCTION

In 1996, the Legislature passed a law specifically empowering the County of Alameda (the “County”) “to create a hospital authority” “strictly and exclusively dedicated to the management, administration, and control” of the Alameda County Medical Center “in a manner that ensures appropriate, quality, and cost-effective medical care as required by counties” under the Welfare and Institutions Code. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subds. (a)(1), (d).) Pursuant to this legislation, the County created the Alameda Health System (“AHS”) as a “separate public agency” to “fulfill [the County’s] commitment to the medically indigent, special needs, and general populations” of the County. (*Id.*, subd. (a)(1); see also Attachment A.)

When the Legislature allowed for the creation of AHS, it made clear that AHS is a “government entity” (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (j))—subject to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act, the Ralph M. Brown Act, the Public Records Act, the County Employees Retirement Law of 1937, and the Government Claims Act—with “all the rights and duties set forth in state law with respect to hospitals owned or operated by a county.” (*Id.*, subd. (m).) AHS’s enabling statute likewise underscores the County’s intrinsic involvement in AHS’s governance and finances. (*Id.*, subds. (c), (e), (l)(1), (o), (ak), (am)(3).)

Based on AHS’s enabling statute and public entity status, the trial court had no trouble finding it exempt from the various wage and hour obligations at issue in this case. The Court of

Appeal, however, disagreed. Despite acknowledging that AHS “is a ‘governmental entity’ of some kind” and a “public entity of some sort” (typed opn. at pp. 12, 15), the Court of Appeal concluded that most of the wage and hour laws applied to AHS.

The Court of Appeal’s judgment rests on several critical errors and should be reversed. To begin with, the decision overlooks critical aspects of the language, structure, and history of the relevant wage and hour laws revealing positive indicia of legislative intent to exclude all public entities from their reach. It also breaks with longstanding judicial and administrative understandings (which had come to the Legislature’s attention by the time it enacted AHS’s enabling statute) that “provisions of the Labor Code apply only to employees in the private sector unless they are specifically made applicable to public employees.” (*Campbell v. Regents of University of California* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 311, 330, quoting Sen. Com. on Indus. Relations, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 3486 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.); 71 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 39, \*5 (1988).)

But that’s not all. The decision below suffers from several other flaws stemming from its fixation on AHS’s perceived lack of “sovereignty.” (Typed opn. at p. 1.) The Court of Appeal erred in even addressing the “sovereign powers doctrine,” which is “simply a maxim of statutory construction” that “cannot override positive indicia of a contrary legislative intent” gleaned from a statute’s language, structure, and history. (*Wells v. One2One Learning Foundation* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1164, 1193.) The court then

misapplied the doctrine, focusing on AHS's lack of certain "sovereign governmental powers" (typed opn. at pp. 9-10) instead of asking whether applying the wage and hour laws to AHS (which is indisputably a governmental entity) would "significantly impede [its] fiscal ability to carry out [its] core public mission[]" (*Wells, supra*, at p. 1193) or "affect [its] governmental purposes and functions" (*Johnson v. Arvin-Edison Water Storage Dist.* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 729, 738).

Finally, the Court of Appeal compounded these errors by concluding that public entities like AHS may be subject to penalties under the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 ("PAGA") even though that law does not specifically apply to public entities. This erroneous interpretation of PAGA could lead to double recoveries against public entities (but not private employers) and raises grave concerns given Government Code section 818's prohibition on damages primarily designed to punish.

Because each of the claims the Court of Appeal permitted to proceed rests in one way or another on these mistakes of law, its judgment should be reversed, and the trial court's dismissal order reinstated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. AHS's Creation, Mission, And Status As A "Government Entity."

Until the late 1990s, the County satisfied its obligations under the Welfare and Institutions Code to provide healthcare to

the indigent through its operation of the Alameda County Medical Center. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, § 17000.) Eventually, however, the Board of Supervisors “determined that the creation of an independent hospital authority strictly and exclusively dedicated to the management, administration, and control of the medical center” was “the best way to fulfill its commitment to the medically indigent, special needs, and general populations of Alameda County.” (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (a)(1).) Accomplishing this goal required “the adoption of a special act” by the Legislature so that the County could “create a hospital authority” dedicated to that mission. (*Id.*, subd. (a)(1), (d).)

The Legislature granted that authority in 1996, when it enacted Health and Safety Code section 101850. That statute unequivocally declares that AHS is a public entity. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (a)(2)(C) [“Hospital authority’ means the separate *public agency* established by the Board of Supervisors”], emphasis added.) Numerous other subdivisions in that section clearly identify AHS as a public agency. (See *id.*, subd. (g) [“public agency”]; *id.*, subd. (j) [“government entity”]; *id.*, subd. (s) [“district”]; *id.*, subd. (u) [“public agency”]; *id.*, subd. (w)(3) [“public entities and public employees”]; *id.*, subd. (ag) [“public agency”].)

The members of AHS’s governing board—which is generally subject to the open meeting requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act (see Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subds. (ae)(1-3), (af))—are appointed and can be removed by the County’s Board of

Supervisors and are protected under the Government Claims Act. (*Id.*, subds. (c), (t), citing Gov. Code, § 820.9.)

AHS's employees are likewise "public employees" under the Government Claims Act, (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (w)(3)), "eligible to participate in the County Employees Retirement System..." (*id.*, subd. (s)), and protected by the collective bargaining requirements of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (*id.*, subd. (u)), which are meant to "promote full communication between public employers and their employees...." (Gov. Code, § 3500, subd. (a).)

With limited exceptions, AHS's records are subject to the Public Records Act. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (ad)(3).) AHS is also "subject to state and federal taxation laws that are applicable to counties generally" and enjoys "all the rights and duties set forth in state law with respect to hospitals owned or operated by a county." (*Id.*, subds. (z) & (m).)

**B. The Trial Court Dismisses Plaintiffs' Wage And Hour Claims Based On AHS's Public Entity Status.**

Plaintiffs Stone and Kunwar worked for AHS as a medical assistant and licensed vocational nurse, respectively. (Typed opn. at p. 3.) Their amended complaint asserted seven representative claims based on allegations that they were not fully compensated for missing meal and rest periods: (1) failure to provide off-duty meal periods (Lab. Code, §§ 512, 226.7; IWC

Wage Order 5, Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11050);<sup>1</sup> (2) failure to provide off-duty rest breaks (§ 226.7; Wage Order); (3) failure to keep accurate payroll records (§§ 1174, 1174.5, 1175; Wage Order); (4) failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements (§§ 226, 226.3); (5) failure to pay wages (§§ 204, 222, 223, 225.5, 218.6, 218.5, 510, 1194, 1194.2, and 1198); (6) failure to timely pay wages (§§ 204, 210, 222, 223, 225.5, 218.6, 218.5); and (7) PAGA (§ 2698 et seq.). (Typed opn. at pp. 3-4.)<sup>2</sup>

AHS demurred on the grounds that these claims were not cognizable because of AHS's status as a public entity. (1AA71-72, 74-75, 1AA86-94.) The superior court agreed and sustained AHS's demurrer without leave to amend, explaining that "AHS is a statutorily created public agency whose employees are public employees and that has the same rights and duties as a county-owned hospital." (4AA316-317.)

### **C. The Court of Appeal Reverses Based On AHS's Lack Of "Sovereignty."**

Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of their representative claims under the "death knell" doctrine. (Typed opn. at pp. 4-5.) Despite recognizing AHS's status as "public entity of some sort" and a "'governmental entity' of some kind" exempt from the wage statement law (§ 226(i)), the Court of Appeal reversed as to the

---

<sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise noted, statutory references are to the Labor Code, and wage order references are to Wage Order 5.

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs also asserted non-class claims under the Fair Employment and Housing Act. (1AA47-51.) Those claims, which are still pending, are not at issue here.



remaining wage and hour claims because AHS lacks certain “hallmarks of sovereignty” (typed opn. at p. 1), such as a governing board elected by the public and the power to tax, seize property, regulate, or police. (Typed opn. at pp. 1-2, 9-10, 12, 15.) The Court of Appeal also allowed Plaintiffs’ derivative PAGA claim to proceed “because PAGA penalties are not punitive damages.” (Typed opn. at p. 16.)

On May 17, 2023, this Court granted review.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“A demurrer is properly sustained when ‘[t]he pleading does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.’” (*Roy Allan Slurry Seal, Inc. v. American Asphalt South, Inc.* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 505, 512.) “On appeal, a resulting judgment of dismissal is reviewed independently.” (*Ibid.*) This Court “accept[s] as true all the material allegations of the complaint,” but “do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions or conclusions of law.” (*Ibid.* [quotation marks omitted].)

Determining the meaning and applicability of a statute “entails the resolution of a pure question of law,” which “is examined de novo.” (*People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.)

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### **I. This Court’s Decision In *Wells* Provides The Framework For Analyzing Whether The Legislature Intended To Expose Public Entities To Statutory Liability.**

“Except as otherwise provided by statute ... [a] public entity is not liable for an injury, whether such injury arises out of an act or omission of the public entity or a public employee or any other person.” (Gov. Code, § 815, subd. (a).) “In the absence of a constitutional requirement, public entities may be held liable only if a statute ... is found declaring them liable.” (*Hoff v. Vacaville Unified School Dist.* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 925, 932.)

This Court’s decision in *Wells* provides the framework for determining whether the Legislature intended to “expose a public entity to a particular statutory liability”—including the wage and hour laws at issue here. (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 1190, 1196.)

#### **A. Courts Must First Look To A Statute’s “Language, Structure, and History” To Determine Whether It Applies To Governmental Entities.**

In *Wells*, this Court explained how courts must first evaluate a statute’s “language, structure, and history” to determine whether it permits a cause of action against governmental entities. (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 1190-1193.) Applying that framework, this Court concluded that “public entities—including public school districts—are not

‘persons’ subject to suit under the” state False Claims Act. (*Id.* at pp. 1193, 1199, fn. 21.)

Looking first to the statute’s plain language, the *Wells* Court noted that the False Claims Act “defines covered ‘persons’ to ‘include any natural person, corporation, firm, association, organization, partnership, limited liability company, business, or trust.’” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1190 [quoting Gov. Code, § 12650, subd. (b)(5)].) Critically, “the statutory list of ‘persons’ contains no words or phrases most commonly used to signify public school districts, or, for that matter, any other public entities or governmental agencies.” (*Ibid.*; accord, *Brennon B. v. Superior Court* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 662, 677-678 [same conclusion regarding “business establishments” under the Unruh Act].)

At the same time, the Court explained, the false claims “statute makes very specific reference to governmental entities in other contexts,” such as in identifying the “state or [a] political subdivision” as the object of a false claim presented by a “person” and in identifying various types of governmental entities in the definition of “political subdivision.” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1190, quoting Gov. Code, § 12651, subd. (a), (b).)

Second, this Court turned to the broader structure of the Government Code—as well as other codes—to focus on the Legislature’s “conceptual separation of ‘person’ from governmental entities.” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 1190-1191; accord, *Brennon B., supra*, 13 Cal.5th at p. 678 & fn. 5 [“the Legislature is capable of bringing government entities within the

scope of specific legislation when it intends to do so”].) For example, under the Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Legislature has defined “person” in a way that does not expressly include public entities while defining “employer” to expressly include “the state or any political or civil subdivision of the state, and cities.” (*Wells, supra*, at pp. 1190-1191, citing Gov. Code, §§ 12925 & 12926; see also *id.* at p. 1191, fn. 14 [similarly comparing the Labor Code’s general definition of “person” and specific definition of “employer” under the workers’ compensation law].)

Third, this Court looked to the history of the state false claims statute, explaining that an earlier draft of the bill included “district, county, city and county, city, the state, and any of the agencies and political subdivisions of these entities” in the definition of “persons,” but this language was ultimately removed. (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 1191-1192.)

Together, this “language, structure, and history” provided sufficient indicia to conclude that the Legislature did not intend, by mere implication, to include public entities among the “persons” subject to suit under the false claims statute. (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1193.)

**B. *Wells* Clarified The Applicability And Scope Of The “Sovereign Powers’ Principle” As An Interpretive Aid.**

As *Wells* illustrates, when a statute’s “language, structure, and history” reveal a legislative intent not to expose public entities to liability, courts need not (and should not) consider

statutory maxims—including the maxim concerned with infringing “sovereign powers.” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1193.)

The origins of the “sovereign powers” principle can be traced back to the late 1800s, when this Court endorsed Justice Story’s exhortation that “the general words of a statute ought not to include the government, or affect its rights, unless that construction be clear and indisputable upon the text of the act.” (*Mayrhofer v. Board of Education* (1891) 89 Cal. 110, 112, quoting *United States v. Hoar* (C.C.D. Mass. 1821) 2 Mason 311, 314.)

The *Mayrhofer* Court recognized that while this “rule of statutory construction” flows in part from the presumption that the Legislature did not intend by general words to “trench upon ... sovereign rights,” it also flows from similar presumptions that courts should not conclude (without clear language) that the Legislature meant to “injuriously affect [government’s] capacity to perform its functions” as a “mere instrumentality for public service” or “establish a right of action against it.” (89 Cal. at pp. 112, 113-114.)

Courts “repeatedly affirmed” (*Miles v. Ryan* (1916) 172 Cal. 205, 207) this rule in the ensuing years, both before and after the Legislature’s adoption of the Labor Code in 1937. (See *Butterworth v. Boyd* (1938) 12 Cal.2d 140, 150.) Starting in the 1940s, some courts collapsed the *Mayrhofer* standard into what became known as the “sovereign powers’ principle”—“i.e., that government agencies are excluded from the operation of general

statutory provisions ‘only if their inclusion would result in an infringement upon sovereign governmental powers.’” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1192.)

But in *Wells*, this Court clarified this “more recent exception” in terms of both its applicability and its scope. First, this Court explained that “the ‘sovereign powers’ principle ... cannot override positive indicia of a contrary legislative intent” to exclude governmental agencies from the reach of a statute. (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1193.)

Second, this Court rejected the lower court’s “analysis of the ‘sovereign power’ question,” which held that “school districts have no ‘sovereign’ power or right to submit false claims against the public treasury.” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 1192-1193.) This Court disagreed and endorsed an approach bearing much closer resemblance to the standard originally recognized in *Mayrhofer*. Specifically, the Court explained that “in light of the stringent revenue, appropriations, and budget restraints under which all California governmental entities operate, exposing them to the draconian liabilities of the [state False Claims Act] would significantly impede their fiscal ability to carry out their core public missions.” (*Id.* at p. 1193.) As a result, this Court concluded, the Legislature could not have intended “by mere implication, to expose ... public entit[ies] to [this] particular statutory liability.” (*Id.* at p. 1196.)

\* \* \*

In sum, determining whether a statute applies to governmental entities starts with the statute’s “language, structure, and history.” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1193.) The “sovereign powers’ principle” does not apply unless there is “unclear legislative intent.” (*Ibid.*) And even then, the question is whether exposing governmental entities to liability would “interfere significantly with government agencies’ fiscal ability to carry out their public missions.” (*Id.* at pp. 1193-1196.) As set forth more fully below, applying this framework here shows that public entities—including public hospital authorities—are not subject to the various wage and hour laws at issue.

## **II. The Meal And Rest Break, Payroll Records, And Overtime Obligations In The Labor Code And Wage Orders Do Not Apply To AHS.**

Plaintiffs’ first, second, third, and fifth causes of action stem from the following statutory and quasi-legislative sources:

- Meal and Rest Breaks (§§ 512 & 226.7; Wage Order §§ 11 & 12);
- Payroll Records (§§ 1174, 1174.5; Wage Order § 7);  
and
- Overtime (§§ 510, 1194, 1194.2, 1198; Wage Order § 3).

(1AA 51-53, 55.)

When the “language, structure, and history” (*Wells, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1193) of these provisions are read together<sup>3</sup> against the backdrop that “governmental agencies are not included within the general words of statute” (*id.* at p. 1192), it becomes apparent that they were not intended to apply to public hospital authorities (or any other public entities).

**A. The Language And Structure Of The Wage And Hour Laws Indicate That They Were Not Intended To Apply To Public Entities.**

By their own terms, the statutes and wage order provisions governing Plaintiffs’ overtime, meal and rest break, and payroll records claims place certain obligations on “employers” (§§ 510, subd. (a), 512, subd. (a), 1198) and “persons” (§§ 1174, 1174.5). In certain circumstances, these laws create certain rights and causes of action for “employees” (§§ 1194, 1194.2) “without specifying who is liable.” (*Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35, 49.)

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