Case No. S279137

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TAMELIN STONE, AMANDA KUNWAR, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated *Plaintiffs/Appellants*,

VS.

ALAMEDA HEALTH SYSTEM, a Public Hospital Authority; Defendants/Respondents

On Petition from a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, No. A164021

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David Y. Imai (State Bar # 142822) Law Offices of David Y. Imai 311 Bonita Drive Aptos, California 95003 (831) 662-1706

Attorney for Plaintiffs and Appellants
TAMELIN STONE, AMANDA KUNWAR, on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly situated

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

To the extent AHS claims that section 2699(h) is incongruous with the remainder of the statute, the Court looks at legislative intent. (Wells, supra, 1192)

By any reasonable interpretation, the intent of sub (h) was to restrict employees from pursuing violations by their employers, whoever they may be, if the LWDA has already filed. This is borne out in the Legislative History, which shows that sub (h) was intended to cover all "alleged violators" without limitation:

"Authorizes aggrieved employees to sue to recover civil penalties under the Labor Code in an action brought on behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed. However, no private action may be maintained where the LWDA or any of its subdivisions initiates proceedings *against the alleged violator* on the same facts and theories and under the same section or sections of the Labor Code." (California Bill Analysis, S.B. 796 Sen., 9/02/2003, emph. added, MJN, ex. "I")

The legislative History makes clear that the intent was to bar private enforcement of PAGA where the LWDA has already filed against any "alleged violator".

Any "employer" is liable for preexisting Labor Code Penalties under PAGA, Labor Code Section 2699(a), including public entities. (Sargent, at 671) The Court of Appeal here correctly followed Sargent and ruled that AHS was liable for section 2699(a) penalties - those which are prescribed in the underlying Labor Code sections. (Stone, supra, at 97)

The Court of Appeal Incorrectly Exempted Public Entities from Default Penalties under Section 2699(f)

As shown, the Court of Appeal correctly ruled that because 2699(a) omits any reference to the limiting term "person" all entities are liable for prescribed Labor Code penalties. However, the Court erred in ruling that AHS is not liable for PAGA's default penalties under section 2699(f) for being a "public entity of some sort" and therefore not a "person" under PAGA, following Sargent.

Sargent, and the Court of Appeal here, failed to analyze the sovereign powers maxim recognized in Wells v One2One, supra, at 1192)

Where public entity liability is not expressly stated and the statute instead generally applies to "persons" liability attaches unless sovereign powers are infringed. (Wells, supra, at 1198)

Sargent ruled that the absence of expressed public entity liability in Labor Code section 18 meant public entities are not "persons" thereunder, citing Wells' reference to the "traditional rule of statutory construction is

that, absent express words to the contrary, governmental agencies are not included within the general words of a statute." (Sargent, at 672) This ignores Wells' recognition of the modern, post Hoyt maxim, requiring infringement of sovereign powers before exemption will apply. (Wells, at 1193)

Sargent, and the Court of Appeal following Sargent here, did not take the analysis far enough. The lack of express liability for public entities will only exclude public entities if sovereign powers would be infringed, in the absence of legislative intent showing otherwise. (Wells, supra, 1198).

As shown, AHS has no sovereign powers and is liable for both Labor Code prescribed penalties under section 2699(a) and default penalties under section 2699(f).

B. <u>Legislative History Shows No Intent to Exclude Public Employers</u> from PAGA Coverage

AHS claims that the legislative history of the PAGA statute shows that the intent was to only enforce the Labor Code as to the "underground economy", and that this inherently does not include public entities.

(Opening, p.70-71) This argument was addressed by the Court in Sargent v.

Board of Trustees, supra, which noted that the Senate Analysis of S.B. 796 specifically stated that the bill was intended to apply to "employers" without limitation:

"Appellants also point to a Senate committee analysis explaining that the state was not collecting all potential penalties from "businesses" that make up the state's underground economy. (Sen. Judiciary Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 22, 2003, p. 2.) Appellants suggest that this comment means that the Legislature did not believe that state agencies were violating labor laws. But the same Senate analysis states broadly that the proposed legislation "would allow employees to sue their employers," with no limitation on whether the employer was public or private. (Id. at p. 1, italics added.)" (Sargent, supra, at 673)

As alleged, Plaintiffs are addressing exactly this type of activity.

AHS was and is systematically stealing income from employees by

deducting wages earned when employees worked through their statutory

breaks, even where timecards show no breaks were taken.

AHS also claims that the Legislature intended to limit the scope of liability for PAGA similar to the California Unfair Competition Law, which does not apply to government entities, per Leider v. Lewis (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1121. (Opening, 71) Leider v. Lewis noted that the UCL was expressly not applicable to "municipal or other public corporations" under the Unfair Practices Act, which preceded the UCL. Therefore, it held the same limitations to the UCL. By contrast there is nothing in any prior law or in the legislative history of PAGA that indicates a similar delimiting of liable persons.

In sum, there is no "positive indicia of a contrary legislative intent" which would preclude application of the sovereign powers maxim, per

Wells, supra, 1193. The Court of Appeal here and in Sargent failed to fully analyze that maxim in reviewing liability under PAGA's section 2699(f) for PAGA "default" penalties. Non sovereign entities such as AHS are liable for default penalties under that section, in addition to the Labor Code prescribed penalties under 2699(a).

C. PAGA Is Not a Punitive Statute it Is an Incentivizing Statute and Does Not Conflict with Government Code Section 818

The Court of Appeal here correctly found that the PAGA statute was primarily an incentivizing statute, designed to empower employees to pursue Labor Code violations, rather than a punitive measure and therefore did not violate Government Code section 818. (Stone, supra, at 99)

PAGA was enacted to deputize aggrieved employees to aid in enforcement of the Labor Code, in the face of limited resources available to the State - "The purpose of the PAGA is not to recover damages or restitution, but to create a means of "deputizing" citizens as private attorneys general to enforce the Labor Code." (Brown v Ralphs Grocery Co (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 489, 501) The idea of "deputizing" employees to allow them to pursue penalties against their employers is necessarily based on a perspective of encouraging plaintiffs, not on punishing defendants.

The Legislative History of the PAGA statute demonstrates the intent behind the legislation. Senate analysis of SB 796 noted that "this bill would

propose to augment the LWDA's civil enforcement efforts by allowing employees to sue employers for civil penalties for labor law violations, and to collect attorneys' fees and a portion of the penalties upon prevailing in these actions, as specified." (California Bill Analysis, S.B. 796 Sen., 9/02/2003, MJN, ex. "I")

AHS cite to Wells v One2One, supra, is misplaced. (Opening, 73)

Wells involved a treble damages provision under the California False

Claims Act and noted that treble damages are, by their nature, punitive
"...the purpose behind the statutory ban on punitive damages against public entities—to protect their tax-funded revenues from legal judgments in amounts beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party—applies equally here." (Wells, at 1196, fn 20) PAGA provides no such treble damages.

AHS also cites this Court's recent decision in Los Angeles Unified

School District v Superior Court (2023) 14 Cal.5th 758 ("LAUSD") which

held that Government Code section 818 could be violated even if damages

are not solely punitive. Damages are barred as against public entities if they

are imposed primarily for the sake of example or punishment such that they

would function in essence as punitive damages. (LAUSD, supra, at 775
776) LAUSD held that the treble damages in Code of Civil Procedure

section 340.1 for minor sexual assault functioned as punitive damages even though they may not be "simply and solely" punitive. (<u>LAUSD</u>, at 777-779)

<u>LAUSD</u> also noted that under C.C.P. section 340.1(b)(1), treble damages are awarded "unless prohibited by another law", and took this to include the prohibition under Government Code section 818. (<u>LAUSD</u>, at 779)

Treble damages are not assessed in PAGA, nor do PAGA civil penalties resemble treble damages in their effect nor in their intent. As the Court of Appeal here noted, PAGA penalties are similar to those in the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Civil Code section 52, which the Court in Los Angeles County Metro. Transportation Auth. v. Superior Court (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 261, 271, held were an "economic incentive" and "the means to retain counsel to pursue perpetrators under the statute" and not subject to the ban on punitive damages under Government Code section 818.

As this Court noted in <u>Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles</u>, <u>LLC</u>, supra, 59 Cal.4th 379, PAGA was enacted to address two problems. The first was that many Labor Code provisions had no penalties attached, weakening deterrent effect. PAGA thus added Labor Code section 2699(f), creating default penalties. The second was the lack of sufficient State personnel to enforce the Labor Code. Thus, the PAGA statute deputized

aggrieved employees. (Iskanian, at 379)

PAGA penalties were set at a level "significant enough to deter violations". (Iskanian, at 379) PAGA penalties are fixed in amount accordingly. By contrast, the amount of punitive damages is assessed by the finder of fact based on the egregiousness of the misconduct. (Hannon Engineering Inc. v. Reim (1981) 126 Cal.App.3d 415, 431) This focus on the level and type of misconduct shows the difference between 'deterrence' and 'punishment'. A defendant must be guilty of "oppression, fraud or malice" to be assessed punitive damages. (Civil Code section 3294(a))

Even the treble damages reviewed in LAUSD required proof of "morally offensive behavior". (LAUSD, supra, at 780) No such state of mind is required for civil penalties under PAGA.

The primary intent behind PAGA penalties, beyond their function as incentives for private prosecution, is to deter violations, not to punish malicious conduct. They are not "imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant" nor do they "function, in essence, as punitive or exemplary damages" (<u>LAUSD</u>, supra, at 775-776)

PAGA penalties are not barred for being punitive damages under Government Code section 818.

D. The Net Effect of PAGA Compliance Is an Enhancement of Tax
Revenues

AHS argues that applying PAGA to public entities would fail to "protect their tax funded revenues from legal judgments in amounts beyond those strictly necessary to recompense the injured party" (Opening, 77).

This overlooks PAGA's legislative intent to enhance tax revenues by assuring the employees are properly paid and taxed - "... evidence received by the Senate Judiciary Committee indicated that the DIR was failing to effectively enforce labor law violations. Estimates of the size California's "underground economy" -- businesses operating outside the state's tax and licensing requirements -- ranged from 60 to 140 billion dollars a year, representing a tax loss to the state of three to six billion dollars annually." (California Bill Analysis, S.B. 796 Sen., 9/02/2003, MJN ex. "I")

Moreover, Labor Code civil and criminal penalties already apply to public entities under some sections. (Labor Code secs. 1103, 1106 - whistle blower violations; Labor Code sections 226(i), 226.3 - payroll record violations; Labor Code section 1197.1 - minimum wage violations) If the legislature held concern for tax revenues in the manner suggested by AHS, those pre PAGA civil penalties would not have been enacted.

The Court of Appeal in <u>Sargent</u>, supra, addressed this issue. There, defendant California State University apparently argued that the legislative intent was for PAGA to have no negative effect on the General Fund of the

State and therefore CSU was not meant to be liable thereunder. The Court noted that the net effect of PAGA would likely be an increase in revenues, when considering penalties received from all liable employers. (Sargent, at 673)

V.

NEW LEGISLATION MAKES PUBLIC HOSPITALS LIABLE AND REVIEW OF MEAL, REST PERIOD AND RELATED CLAIMS ARISING AFTER 1/1/23 IS MOOT

 Labor Code Section 512.1 Creates Liability for Public Employers Operating Hospitals

On January 1, 2023, Labor Code section 512.1 went into effect², expressly creating liability for missed meal and rest breaks for public entity employers of health care workers. This moots any arguments that AHS is exempt as to claims arising after January 1, 2023.

There has been no settlement of any claim in this action, therefore all claims of putative class members who were denied meal and rest breaks after January 1, 2023 are viable and subject to section 512.1. As alleged, AHS' conduct is ongoing and consistently unlawful.

Labor Code section 512.1 essentially mirrors Labor Code section 512 in mandating meal and rest periods, but specifically applies to "the

² AHS raises this issue in their opening brief, p. 42. fn 6

state, political subdivisions of the state, counties, municipalities, and the Regents of the University of California" (sec. 512.1(e)(2)) and covers employees who "provides direct patient care or supports direct patient care in a general acute care hospital, clinic, or public health setting" (sec. 512.1(e)(1).

Appellate courts will not address the merits of an appeal that have been rendered "moot". (Eye Dog Foundation v. State Board of Guide Dogs for the Blind (1967) 67 Cal.2d 536, 541) The amendment of a statute in question on appeal will moot the issue unless the amendment merely continues or reenacts the statute. (Alternatives for California Women, Inc.: v. County of Contra Costa (1983) 145 Cal.App.3d 436, 444, abrogated on other grounds in Los Angeles Alliance For Survival v. City of Los Angeles (2000) 22 Cal.4th 352)

The issue of meal period and rest break violations for public hospital employers occurring after January 1, 2023 is mooted by the passage of 512.1.

B. <u>Labor Code Sec. 512.1 Necessarily Invokes Derivative Liability For</u>
Related Labor Code Violations

The passage of Labor Code section 512.1 necessarily invokes related derivative liability for: Failure to Keep Accurate Payroll Records; Failure to Provide Accurate Itemized Wage Statement; Unlawful Failure to Pay

Wages and; Failure to Timely Pay Wages and PAGA violations as alleged in the 3rd, 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th Causes of Action of the First Amended Complaint, for claims arising after January 1, 2023, insofar as those claims are founded on missed meal and rest breaks under 512.1. (Naranjo v. Spectrum Security Services, Inc., supra, 13 Cal.5th 101 - failure to pay premium pay for missed breaks invokes derivative liability for wage statement and prompt pay statutes)

Once section 512.1 made public entity hospital employers liable for break violations attendant derivative liability for failure to pay premium wages necessarily follows. Unpaid wages due under section 512.1 are moneys owed under the Labor Code and all Labor Code sections governing the time of payment, payroll reporting and other attendant requirements are equally enforceable. There is nothing in section 512.1 which limits liability in any manner different from the general coverage provisions of Labor Code section 512. The statute was to provide the "same meal break and rest period enforceability that the private sector currently enjoys". (California Bill Analysis, Senate Floor, 2021-2022 Regular Session, Senate Bill 1334, August 25, 2022, MJN, ex. "F")

This Court's review should be limited to claims arising before

January 1, 2023. Review is moot as to all claims which arose thereafter.

VI

CONCLUSION

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